
 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice Committee 

 

Janet Gilligan Abaray, Chair 

Hon. Patrick F. Fischer, Vice-chair 

 

 
 

 

 

February 11, 2016 

 

Ohio Statehouse 

Room 017 



Chair Ms. Janet Abaray

Vice-chair Judge Patrick Fischer

Mr. Jeff Jacobson

Sen. Kris Jordan

Mr. Charles Kurfess

Rep. Robert McColley

Mr. Dennis Mulvihill

Mr. Richard Saphire

Sen. Michael Skindell

Rep. Emilia Sykes

Mr. Mark Wagoner

OCMC Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice Committee

Internet Access: select "oga" from the list of network options.

A passcode/password is not required.



 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION  

 

JUDICIAL BRANCH AND ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE COMMITTEE 
 
 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 11, 2016 

1:30 P.M.  

OHIO STATEHOUSE ROOM 018 
 

AGENDA 
 

 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

II. Roll Call 

 

III. Approval of Minutes  

 

 Meeting of December 10, 2015 
 

[Draft Minutes – attached] 
 

IV. Reports and Recommendations 

 

 None scheduled 

 

V. Presentations 

 

 “Update on Grand Juries” 

 

Senator Sandra R. Williams 

Ohio Senate, 21
st
 District 

Member, Ohio Task Force on Community-Police Relations 

 

 “Observations on the Grand Jury Process” 

 

Timothy Young 

Ohio Public Defender 

 

 

 

1



VI. Committee Discussion 

 

 Article I, Section 10 (Grand Juries) 

 

The committee chair will lead discussion regarding what steps the 

committee wishes to take regarding the preparation of a report and 

recommendation on the topic of grand juries and other topics covered in 

Article I, Section 10. 

 

[Memorandum by Shari L. O’Neill and Bryan B. Becker titled 

“Supplemental Memorandum Regarding the Use of Grand Juries in the 

United States,” dated January 26, 2016 – attached] 

 

[Recommendation on the Grand Jury Process by the Ohio Task Force on 

Community-Police Relations – attached] 

 

VII. Next Steps 

 

 Planning Worksheet 

  

The committee chair will lead discussion regarding the next steps the 

committee wishes to take in preparation for upcoming meetings. 

 

[Planning Worksheet – attached] 

 

VIII. Old Business 

 

IX. New Business 

 

X. Public Comment 

 

XI. Adjourn 

 

2



 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE  

JUDICIAL BRANCH AND ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE COMMITTEE 

 

FOR THE MEETING HELD 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 10, 2015 

 

Call to Order: 

 

Chair Janet Abaray called the meeting of the Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice 

Committee to order at 2:40 p.m. 

 

Members Present:  

 

A quorum was present with Chair Abaray and committee members Jacobson, Kurfess, Mulvihill, 

Obhof, Saphire, Skindell, and Wagoner in attendance.   

 

Approval of Minutes:  

 

The minutes of the July 9, 2015 meeting of the committee were approved as amended.  

 

Presentation: 

 

Chair Abaray then turned the committee’s attention to the ongoing consideration of the issue of 

the use of grand juries in Ohio, as provided in Article I, Section 10.  She introduced two 

members of the Ohio Prosecuting Attorneys Association, Michael T. Gmoser, prosecuting 

attorney for Butler County; and Morris J. Murray, prosecuting attorney for Defiance County, 

who were present to provide their perspective on the use of grand juries in criminal prosecutions. 

 

“The Grand Jury Process” 

 

Michael T. Gmoser 

Prosecuting Attorney 

Butler County, Ohio 

 

Morris J. Murray 

Prosecuting Attorney 

Defiance County, Ohio 

 

3



 

2 

 

Mr. Gmoser spoke first, indicating that 98 percent of felony prosecutions in the criminal division 

of his office begin with a grand jury indictment, as opposed to a bill of information.  He 

remarked that law is an evolutionary institution, but there are some aspects of law that should be 

a constant.  He said the grand jury process should be a constant, and is provided for under federal 

law in the United States Constitution.  He added that the grand jury process is an Ohio institution 

that has changed very little over the years because it is based on the principle that no person shall 

be held to answer for a serious crime without a grand jury indictment, and that the process 

requires secrecy.  Mr. Gmoser acknowledged that whenever there is an issue that demands 

transparency, the institutions that demand secrecy come under attack and that is only natural.  

But, he said, transparency is not a good thing when it comes to charging someone as opposed to 

trying someone.  He cautioned the committee that it could do damage if it acts in favor of 

transparency, because the secrecy in the grand jury process benefits the guilty as well as the 

innocent.   

 

Mr. Gmoser said he first wanted to emphasize that prosecutors do not, in the main, indict 

innocent people if they can avoid it.  He said prosecutors have to be accountable to the public 

and do not want to try cases they cannot win.  He said, unlike the popular saying, there is nothing 

to be gained by “indicting a ham sandwich,” adding that might be true as an exception to the 

rule, “but we should not change the whole system because of it.”  He said secrecy prevents the 

innocent person from being maligned and abused based on improper charges.  He said 

prosecutors have an interest in protecting suspects from the condemnation of public disclosure.  

He remarked that the other function he finds essential to the operation of his office is the use of 

the grand jury as a tool to obtain information in a private, secret way.  He said prosecutors use 

the grand jury for investigatory purposes, so that, if the process becomes transparent, it will 

prevent opportunities for disclosure of crime.   

 

He explained the end result of a grand jury proceeding is a charging instrument that results in a 

court proceeding in which the defendant has all the protections afforded a criminal defendant.  At 

the time a criminal charge is brought, the accused has a right to the evidence, but he said this 

does not mean the evidence should be given to the defense before or during grand jury 

proceedings.  Mr. Gmoser concluded his presentation by asking the committee to “protect a vital 

institution of our state” by making no modifications that will eliminate the confidential nature of 

the grand jury process. 

 

Chair Abaray explained that an issue the committee has been asked to address, which was raised 

by communications from Sen. Sandra Williams and Ohio Supreme Court Chief Justice Maureen 

O’Connor, is whether there are any changes or recommendations that would help the public gain 

confidence in the grand jury system.  She said, when things are done in secret, that requires trust, 

and if trust is eroded, that has a negative effect.  She asked Mr. Gmoser whether he had any 

suggestions for ways to improve the process, beginning, specifically with a practice used in other 

states, such as Pennsylvania and New York.  Chair Abaray described that, in those states, grand 

jury proceedings are recorded by a court reporter and then, at the end of the proceeding, are 

reviewed by a judge who signs off that the process was properly done.  Chair Abaray wondered 

whether Mr. Gmoser is familiar with this practice and what his opinion is of it. 

 

4



 

3 

 

Mr. Gmoser responded that prosecutors are against that practice.  He said this kind of oversight, 

particularly a method that uses a commission to review the proceedings, can create problems 

because if a controversy arises the public then wants to fire the commission.  He said, regardless, 

the successful operation of the system always depends on the quality of the prosecutor, calling 

prosecutors “the most ethically-oriented people we have in our society dealing with criminal 

law.”  He said, as prosecutor, he is able to identify problems and knows how the system should 

work.  He added having another layer of oversight would complicate speedy trial requirements.  

He said oversight would be impossible in the larger counties, maybe possible in smaller counties, 

but in little communities everyone knows everyone’s business anyway.  He said that is not a 

workable solution, adding that judges already are involved; every grand jury is instructed by a 

judge about its duties.  He said if the committee would want to require the prosecutor to inform 

members of the grand jury that it is their jury and not the prosecutor’s grand jury, he would be 

okay with that because he already does that.  He said he insures the grand jury’s independence, 

and that the grand jury never is told what it must do.  He does inform the grand jury of the law, 

what the complicating factors are, and what the details of the case are, and if that practice were 

institutionalized by a law requiring it he would amenable to that.  He added that the proceedings 

are recorded and transcripts are made.  He said these are the practices he would suggest, rather 

than an additional layer of oversight. 

 

Chair Abaray explained that the role of the Commission is to look into issues, and that the 

committee is not advocating a position. 

 

Committee member Richard Saphire noted that one fifth of the states allow judicial review, 

wondering whether Mr. Gmoser is familiar with the experience in other states.  Mr. Gmoser 

replied that he is not in a position to comment on that. 

 

Senator Larry Obhof commented that the grand jury process provides fairness to the would-be 

defendant, meaning that if someone is not actually charged with a crime, all the things that could 

be said in that room could taint how that person is viewed publicly.  Mr. Gmoser agreed, saying 

that is the secrecy that is required.  He said that could be devastating for the person who is being 

investigated but not charged.  He said justice comes first for the prosecutors, but not for defense 

attorneys, whose role is to defend their client. 

 

Committee member Jeff Jacobson said he has no issue with secrecy, acknowledging that there is 

a danger to people who have not or may not be charged in having rumors become a matter for 

public conversation.  But, he said, that is not the end of the story.  He wondered whether Mr. 

Gmoser was familiar with a situation that developed in Wisconsin, in which a prosecutor decided 

to go after certain people for activity that was not actually criminal, with the result that multiple 

incidents of prosecutorial abuse and harassment of citizens occurred before two rulings by the 

state supreme court stopped the abuse of process.  Mr. Jacobson said this all occurred because 

the prosecutor started with a theory that was not the law, then told the grand jury what the law is 

and was wrong.  Mr. Jacobson wondered how oversight could have been helpful in preventing 

that abuse of the system. 

 

Mr. Gmoser said the fact that the incident was publicized is evidence that the system works.  He 

said an extra layer of oversight would not prevent unethical activity that perverts the system. 

5



 

4 

 

 

Mr. Jacobson followed up, asking, “if a prosecutor decides to investigate what is not a crime and 

tells the grand jury it is a crime, who can tell the grand jury that he is wrong?”  He added that a 

system that would allow oversight in certain instances could prevent abuses.  He commented, 

“someone could have died as result of those activities [in Wisconsin], and yet no one could 

challenge the prosecutor’s interpretation of the law within the context of that investigation.” 

 

Mr. Gmoser answered that one size would not fit all, and that it would be impossible to establish 

specific categories that a judge would be able to look at.  He said he would not want to see 

oversight required just because of a problem in Wisconsin.  Mr. Jacobson continued that there 

was also a similar instance at Duke University, to which Mr. Gmoser replied that this is not that 

big of a problem if only two cases illustrate it. 

 

Committee member Dennis Mulvihill asked whether Mr. Gmoser always asks the grand jury to 

return an indictment.  Mr. Gmoser replied that he never asks the grand jury to return an 

indictment, and that he also informs assistant prosecutors that they should never ask the grand 

jury to do that.  He said he suspects many prosecutors do it the same way.  He said he may 

recommend one charge as versus another, but he never tells them they must do something.  Mr. 

Gmoser said he tells the grand jury “here is the grocery list of offenses; your duty is to find 

probable cause, not proof.”  He added that the grand jury gets that instruction from a judge 

before they hear it from him.  He said, if all the evidence that is ever produced in a case has been 

heard by the grand jurors, and in their minds the case will never arise above a probability, and 

they are convinced the case will not be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, he is not going to 

proceed.  He said some juries will indict anyway, but in that situation he goes to the judge and 

asks for the case to be nolle prosequi.   

 

Mr. Mulvihill asked how often the grand jury reaches a conclusion that Mr. Gmoser does not 

think is justified.  Mr. Gmoser answered that this occurs less than 10 percent of the time.  

 

Chair Abaray then recognized Morris J. Murray, prosecutor for Defiance County.  Mr. Murray 

began by emphasizing that the grand jury process is “absolutely critical” to the fair and efficient 

administration of justice.  He then read from the jury instructions that are provided to grand 

jurors at the time they are sworn by the judge.  The instructions describe the grand jury as an 

“ancient and honored institution,” indicating that jurors take an oath in which they promise to 

keep secret everything that occurs in the grand jury room, both during their service and 

afterward.  The instructions further describe a two-fold purpose for secrecy, one being that it 

protects the reputation of the person under investigation, and the other being that a person who 

learns he or she is being investigated could then have the opportunity to escape.  The instructions 

go on to describe the meaning and purpose of a criminal indictment, to describe the process by 

which information will be presented to the jurors, and to set out the requirements that must be 

met before an indictment is handed down.  The instructions also caution the jurors that they must 

be fair and unbiased, must recognize that hearsay evidence is unreliable, and that, as the sole 

judges of the facts, are not to be influenced by the prosecutor in deciding whether to approve an 

indictment.  The instructions describe that the jury’s deliberations will be conducted outside the 

presence of others.  Finally, the instructions state: “In the field of crime your authority for 

6



 

5 

 

investigation is almost unlimited.  It must, however, be directed by honest and conscientious 

motives to determine if a person or persons should be charged with a specific crime.” 

 

Mr. Murray commented that grand jurors take these instructions to heart.  He emphasized that 

prosecutors do not seek to indict innocent people and do not pursue cases in which it is clear that 

there is no probable cause.  He noted that, on the other hand, if grand jurors decide a true bill 

should be returned, a prosecutor is obligated to pursue the case, even if it is difficult or 

controversial.  Mr. Murray reiterated the importance of secrecy to the process because it protects 

the privacy of persons subject to a grand jury proceeding.  He concluded by stating that the grand 

jury process is “not broken” but accomplishes the objectives set forth in the grand jury 

instructions.   

 

Chair Abaray recognized Mr. Saphire, who asked whether jurors get the instructions in writing.  

Mr. Murray answered that the instructions are available in writing if the jurors want them.  Mr. 

Saphire said he agreed that the instructions are comprehensive and give a juror a sense of 

responsibility, but said he wonders if jurors listening to instructions being read would have the 

ability to understand.  Mr. Murray said he is not sure if jurors fully comprehend all they hear, 

but, based upon what jurors say and the kinds of questions they ask, he does believe that they 

understand the instructions.  He added, “while there are examples of bad cases, when you 

consider the hundreds of thousands of cases nationwide, our batting average is pretty good.” 

 

Mr. Murray continued that law enforcement investigation is the first step, with the second step 

being the prosecutor’s review of the evidence.  He said there is an element of prosecutorial 

discretion, and a prosecutor has to determine if a case is even worthy of a grand jury proceeding.  

He noted that confidentiality comes into play for a lot of good reasons.  He said high profile 

cases can cause people to want to try to fix something that is not broken, adding that “very little, 

if anything, needs to be done” with regard to Ohio’s process. 

 

Chair Abaray asked whether the grand jury instructions are required in Ohio.  Mr. Murray 

answered that there are rules and statutory requirements regarding instructions that he believes 

are fairly consistent throughout the state.  Chair Abaray then commented that the more the public 

can be informed about the grand jury process, the more it might benefit society as a whole.  Mr. 

Murray replied that this is a good point, and that public servants could improve public education 

about the grand jury process.   

 

Chair Abaray said she had heard jurors are allowed to consider evidence that is actually hearsay 

within hearsay, wondering how commonly that occurs.  Mr. Murray noted that the instructions 

caution jurors that hearsay can be unreliable.  He said, as a practical matter, he might have 15 to 

20 cases that need review by a grand jury, so that for expediency he may present hearsay through 

a process that has the investigating officer reading a witness statement, for example.  He said he 

might want the witness there in some cases, but that isn’t always necessary, adding it would bog 

down the process to always require a live witness, or, alternately, to simply say the grand jury 

cannot consider hearsay.   

 

Mr. Mulvihill asked about the close relationship between police and prosecutors.  He said some 

public criticism now arises out of that close relationship when a police officer is under suspicion, 

7



 

6 

 

and that there is an appearance of a conflict of interest.  He said his more specific question is 

whether, where there is a conflict of interest, there should be a separate body to investigate 

officers. 

 

Mr. Murray said cases may already be publicized before a prosecutor even gets the file.  He said 

he would prefer that as little as possible be in the media about a high-profile case.  Regarding the 

prosecutor’s relationship with the police department, he said the process requires working daily 

with police officers.  If the people he works with get in trouble or are accused of wrongdoing, he 

said he does not handle that case.  He said he does not think an oversight commission, or other 

review would help, but, rather, “we just need common sense.”  He said he would get special 

prosecutor to handle the case if it involves police officer conduct.  

 

Mr. Mulvihill wondered whether it might be easier to have an independent body that would 

investigate police officers or public officials.  Mr. Murray said he has no problem with people 

who are unconnected with the case from handling the matter.  He said any attorney can be a 

special prosecutor, although usually it is someone with experience.  He said, like all attorneys, 

prosecutors are required to avoid the appearance of conflict and impropriety.  He said he would 

never stay on a case in which he has a conflict.   

 

Committee member Charles Kurfess asked how often grand juries change.  Mr. Murray said 

jurors serve for four months.  Mr. Kurfess then asked whether there should be a limit on how 

many times a prosecutor takes the same case to a grand jury in an effort to continue to try for an 

indictment.  He wondered if, barring additional evidence, there should be a limit.  Mr. Murray 

answered that he can count on one hand the times he has taken a case back to a grand jury, and in 

those instances it was because there was new evidence.  He said he does not want to tie the 

prosecutor’s hands from a public perspective.  He said, as an example, sometimes witnesses 

recant or tell a new story, or a child witness changes his or her testimony.  He said he hopes the 

public elects prosecutors who are competent and ethical.  He said he does not know how one 

could put a check on that. 

 

Mr. Kurfess asked whether, in those instances, the second grand jury should be advised that the 

case already has been heard.  Mr. Murray said if he were to say that, he would be unable to avoid 

a discussion of the evidence that was presented on the previous occasion, or to avoid the question 

of why there was no indictment after the previous hearing. 

 

Mr. Kurfess asked how the prosecutor decides whether to invite the accused to appear before the 

grand jury.  Mr. Gmoser answered that he has had the accused come before the grand jury in 

certain cases, specifically cases such as date rape, in which he thinks it is important for the jurors 

to hear both sides of the story.  Mr. Murray answered that sometimes counsel will ask to let the 

defendant testify, and sometimes the defendant wants to.   

 

Mr. Kurfess commented that the grand jury process is the least understood by the public of all 

parts of the criminal procedure. 

 

Mr. Gmoser noted that petit jurors in his county get written instructions, but that the grand jurors 

do not.  He said he tells them the instructions, because he does not believe they get the full 

8



 

7 

 

import of the instruction at the time they are sworn.  Mr. Kurfess said that, when he was a judge, 

he always gave written copies of the instructions. 

 

Mr. Kurfess then asked about the substantive difference between a grand jury indictment and a 

preliminary hearing procedure.  Mr. Murray answered the preliminary hearing process is often 

happening at an earlier stage, where there has been an investigation that blows up in a hurry.  He 

said the presentation of a minimal amount of testimony is the same, but much more 

comprehensive information is presented to a grand jury.  Mr. Gmoser said preliminary hearings 

are handled by municipal prosecutors.  Mr. Murray added that it is often new prosecutors who 

handle preliminary hearings. 

 

Mr. Kurfess asked whether there is any substantial difference between the federal grand jury 

procedure and Ohio grand jury procedures.  Mr. Gmoser said the federal procedure is extremely 

guarded.  Mr. Murray said, in the federal system, access to testimony is easier after the grand 

jury process has concluded.  He said, in Ohio, prosecutors provide a transcript of grand jury 

testimony if the defendant testifies, and sometimes provide the transcript of the testimony of an 

accusing witness, but other than that they do not provide a transcript.   

 

Mr. Kurfess invited the prosecutors’ observations as to the purpose gleaned from the 

constitutional provision.  

 

Mr. Gmoser said a grand jury is a device that protects the administration of justice and the 

fairness of the system, and is a form of due process protecting all rights across the board.  Mr. 

Murray added the protections include protecting those who might be falsely accused.   

 

Mr. Jacobson said it is a problem to focus on prosecutors’ potential conflict of interest in regard 

to law enforcement, as prosecutors also may work closely with others such as the attorney 

general.  Mr. Jacobson asked whether there are phases in a grand jury presentation, and whether, 

when the prosecution has presented its evidence, the jurors are given general or specific 

instructions about the case.   

 

Mr. Murray said jurors are told the code section and the elements of the crime, and then are told 

they need to decide whether the information they have heard satisfies the elements of that crime.  

Mr. Jacobson followed up, asking whether a prosecutor could suggest one crime but not name 

the other potential crimes the evidence might support.  He said he wondered if those instructions 

at the end of the presentation should be what should be transcribed and reviewed by a judge. 

 

Mr. Gmoser answered that a judge is not going to sit as a second prosecutor and examine what 

the first prosecutor did.  Mr. Jacobson clarified that he is not asking to check sufficiency, but is 

asking whether what was said as an instruction was fair and legitimate, and not a violation of 

someone’s rights.  He asked “what is wrong with the suggestion that someone who has 

unchecked power for a short amount of time could, in theory, abuse that power?”   

 

Mr. Gmoser answered that no prosecutors do what Mr. Jacobson is suggesting could happen.  He 

said the idea of a judge reviewing the final instructions to the jurors would not work and is not a 

good idea.  Mr. Murray clarified regarding the instruction, saying if a prosecutor misinstructs, the 

9



 

8 

 

check on the process is what happens after that.  He said he does not think the statistics will 

support that the process needs to be changed.  He said there are a lot of cases that do not result in 

an indictment.   

 

Mr. Jacobson continued, suggesting that if prosecutors do not want a judge to review their 

actions, why not provide the defendant a copy of the instructions so if there is something wrong 

it can be brought to someone’s attention.  Mr. Gmoser said prosecutors get a charge from the 

police, but sometimes the charge should be less or should be more, and this is why the charges 

are not always the same.  He explained it is in the discretion of the prosecutor to decide the 

charge, and in doing so, the prosecutor ends up owning the case.  He added, if the prosecutor 

loses the case, it is on the prosecutor.  

 

Mr. Jacobson said he admits the system generally works, but wondered what percentage of cases 

is subject to a plea bargain.  He explained that the fact of indictment is enough to force a plea, 

and because a defendant pleads guilty does not mean the original charge was fair.  Mr. Murray 

said most prosecutors are telling the jury: “here is the evidence, here are the potential offenses,” 

and they will offer the grand jury the opportunity to charge one or more offenses and some may 

be higher level of crimes than the circumstances warrant.  He said, there is a necessity for that 

plea bargaining process to happen, but the grand jury gets the first look at it.  Mr. Gmoser added 

“just because we plea bargain does not mean the charge was not well founded.” 

 

Mr. Mulvihill asked who provides answers if jurors have questions.  Mr. Murray said the jury 

instructions notify jurors they can ask the court, adding the prosecutor is by statute the legal 

advisor to the grand jury.  Mr. Mulvihill asked whether Mr. Murray recommends to the grand 

jury what the indictment should be, based on what the evidence shows.  Mr. Murray said the 

procedure is not like in a trial.  He said, in the grand jury he is saying “here is the evidence, here 

are your options.”  He said he tries to be as literal as possible. 

 

Chair Abaray noted that a failure to indict was of concern in some of the police shooting cases.  

She wondered if, in situations where everyone knows about the incident, there has been 

consideration to releasing to the public the jury instruction or the charges.  Mr. Gmoser said 

prosecutors would not consider doing so.  He said the public trust issue would not be solved by 

giving a tutorial to the public.  He added, in Butler County, every police shooting goes to a grand 

jury, but some counties do not require those cases to go to the grand jury.  He said he always 

takes it to the grand jury when police are involved. 

 

Mr. Kurfess asked whether the prosecutors always allow jurors the possibility of charging a 

lesser-included offense.  Mr. Gmoser said that depends.  He gave an example of a murder of a 

two-year-old year old child in which the suspect was indicted for felony murder but also for 

involuntary manslaughter.  He said the two crimes have very different penalties, but he charged 

both ways because he did not want an argument with the court and the defense about whether 

one is a lesser-included offense of the other.  Mr. Murray answered that sometimes the defense 

does not want a compromise option, and that the decision goes back to the strength of the 

evidence. 

 

Chair Abaray thanked the prosecutors for their presentations. 

10



 

9 

 

 

Adjournment: 

 

With no further business to come before the committee, the meeting adjourned at 4:10 p.m.  

 

Approval: 

 

The minutes of the December 10, 2015 meeting of the Judicial Branch and the Administration of 

Justice Committee were approved at the February 11, 2016 meeting of the committee. 

 

 

 

______________________________   

Janet Gilligan Abaray, Chair   

 

 

 

______________________________    

Judge Patrick F. Fischer, Vice-chair 

11



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

12



 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

 

TO:   Chair Janet Abaray, Vice-chair Patrick Fischer, and  

Members of the Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice 

Committee 

 

CC:   Steven C. Hollon, Executive Director 

 

FROM:  Shari L. O’Neill, Counsel to the Commission and 

Bryan Becker, Student Intern  

    

DATE:  January 26, 2016 

 

RE:   Supplemental Memorandum Regarding the Use of  

Grand Juries in the United States 

 

 

At its July 2015 meeting, the Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice Committee discussed 

issues surrounding the use of the grand jury in criminal prosecutions across the United States.  

This memorandum is intended to provide supplemental research on that topic. 

 

Preliminary Hearing 

 

In 27 states, only an information filed by the prosecutor, with the opportunity for a preliminary 

hearing, is necessary to charge a person with a crime.
1
  However, many of these states also allow 

a prosecutor to choose between presenting evidence to a grand jury and using an information 

with a preliminary hearing (though the information filing is far more common).  In most of these 

states, a defendant can be denied a preliminary hearing if they have been indicted by a grand 

jury. See, e.g., Martinez v. State, 423 P.2d 700 (Alaska 1967).  A grand jury may be preferred by 

a prosecutor for “saving time, limiting defense discovery, or reducing the number of times the 

victim must testify publicly.” 
2
  States with both an indictment and an information process may 

not systematically use one against certain classes of people.  For instance, a prosecutor cannot 

choose an indictment over an information on the basis of a classification such as race, sex, or 

religion. State v. Edmonson, 113 Idaho 230, 743 P.2d 459 (1987).  

 

                                                           
1
 Sara S. Beale et al., Grand Jury Law & Practice 2d, 8.2.   

2
 Id.  

13



 
 

             OCMC                                                                                                         Ohio Const. Art. I, §10 

2 

 
 

Constitutionally, the accused has a right to have either a grand jury or a judge establish probable 

cause before a case may go to trial.  “[W]e are unable to say that the substitution for a 

presentment or indictment by a grand jury of the proceeding by information after examination 

and commitment by a magistrate, certifying to the probable guilt of the defendant, with the right 

on his part to the aid of counsel, and to the cross-examination of the witnesses produced for the 

prosecution, is not due process of law.”  Hurtado v. California, 110 U.S. 516, 538 (1884).  The 

United States Supreme Court has ruled that a defendant has a constitutionally-protected right to 

have a preliminary hearing after the filing of an information.  It also concluded that since the 

preliminary hearing only establishes probable cause, the accused is not entitled to the assistance 

of counsel.  Gerstein v. Pugh, 420 U.S. 103 (1975).   

 

Grand Jury Legal Counsel  

 

There has been a small but vocal call for the appointment of legal counsel to serve as an 

independent advisor to grand juries.  “The most important reform would be to give the grand jury 

an independent legal adviser, selected from outside the prosecutor’s office.” 
3
  Currently, Hawaii 

is the only state to provide independent legal counsel to the grand jury, requiring it through a 

constitutional provision that reads: 

 

Whenever a grand jury is impaneled, there shall be an independent counsel 

appointed as provided by law to advise the members of the grand jury regarding 

matters brought before it. Independent counsel shall be selected from among those 

persons licensed to practice law by the supreme court of the State and shall not be 

a public employee. The term and compensation for independent counsel shall be 

as provided by law. 

 

Haw. Const. art. I, § 11. 

 

University of Dayton Professor Thaddeus Hoffmeister notes that Hawaii’s grand jury legal 

advisors consider their role to be highly effective in ensuring grand juries can make independent 

decisions.
4
  Susan W. Brenner, also a University of Dayton law professor, suggests that 

“Hawaii’s unique system is a solid model for federal grand juries and states wishing to re-

establish the legitimacy and independence of grand juries.” 
5
 Another writer considers the short 

period for serving on the jury as ensuring the advisor does not become “an entrenched party in 

the system.” 
6
  The provision does not require the independent counsel to be present throughout 

the entire proceeding.  State v. Kahlbaun, 64 Haw. 197, 638 P.2d 309 (1981).  The purpose of 

                                                           
3
 Niki Kuckes, The Useful, Dangerous Fiction of Grand Jury Independence, 41 Am. Crim. L.Rev. 1, 65 (2004). 

4
 Thaddeus Hoffmeister, The Grand Jury Legal Advisor: Resurrecting the Grand Jury’s Shield,  98 J. Crim. L. & 

Criminology 1171 (2008). 
5
 Susan W. Brenner, Forum: Faults, Fallacies, and the Future of Our Criminal Justice System: The Voice of the 

Community: A Case for Grand Jury Independence, 3 Va. J. Soc. Pol’y & L. 67, 95 (1995). 
6
 Note, What Do You Do With a Runaway Grand Jury?: A Discussion of the Problems and Possibilities Opened Up 

by the Rocky Flats Grand Jury Investigation, 71 S. Cal. L.Rev. 617, 637 (1998).   

 

14



 
 

             OCMC                                                                                                         Ohio Const. Art. I, §10 

3 

 
 

independent counsel is to provide a service for the grand jury, not the accused.  State v. Hehr, 63 

Haw. 640, 633 P.2d 545 (1981). 

 

The only effort to provide counsel to a federal grand jury was made by then Senator Richard 

Nixon, who sought to give investigatory grand juries special counsel from outside the United 

States Attorney’s Office.
7
 Nixon likely was thinking about the successful grand jury 

investigation into Alger Hiss, an investigation Nixon helped necessitate as a Congressman on the 

House Committee on Un-American Activities.  The bill died in committee. 
8
 

 

Evidentiary Standards 

 

There have been calls in the academic community for states to adopt tougher evidentiary 

standards than is required for federal grand juries.  Professor John F. Decker argues for witnesses 

to have the right to counsel, the requirement of allowing exculpatory evidence, the exclusion of 

illegally or improperly obtained evidence, admonishments, the right for witnesses to appear, and 

the right to transcripts. 
9
 

 

Standards for protecting the accused that go beyond what is constitutionally required likely will 

be allowed by the courts.  Ohio courts recognize the need for statutes that implement the 

constitutional guarantee of a speedy trial if they represent “a rational effort to enforce the 

constitutional guarantee * * *.”  State v. Pachay, 64 Ohio St.2d 218, 416 N.E.2d 589 (1980).  

Courts also recognize that statutes can offer stronger protections to defendants than what is 

constitutionally required.  See, e.g., State v. Jones, 37 Ohio St.2d 21, 24, 306 N.E.2d 409, 411, 

fn. 1 (1974) (R.C. 2935.20 offers the accused a stronger right to counsel than what is guaranteed 

by the federal Constitution).  Any statute that excludes illegally or improperly obtained evidence, 

allows exculpatory evidence, and allows witnesses to have the right to counsel are likely to be 

seen as constitutional.  Some states already require some exculpatory evidence to be given to the 

jury. See, e.g., State v. Hogan, 144 N.J. 216, 676 A.2d 533 (New Jersey 1996). 

 

New York Grand Jury Procedure 

 

The New York grand jury system offers some of the strongest protections for persons subject to 

grand jury investigations and can serve as an example for Ohio.  Moritz College of Law 

Professor Ric Simmons finds New York grand juries to be “active and engaged, and they 

critically evaluate the cases that come before them.” 
10

  Simmons calls for other states to follow 

the New York model by stopping prosecutors from re-presentation of the case if a grand jury 

investigation does not result in an indictment.  He further advocates the New York practice of 

                                                           
7
 Note, Powers of Federal Grand Juries, 4 Stan. L.Rev. 68, 75 (1951). 

8
 Note, Reviving Federal Grand Jury Presentments, 103 Yale L.J. 1333, 1345 n.60 (1999); Susan W. Brenner & 

Lori E. Shaw, 2 Fed. Grand Jury: A Guide to Law and Practice (Supp. 2004), § 27:6. 
9
 John F. Decker, Legislating New Federalism: The Call for Grand Jury Reform in the States, 58 Okla. L.Rev. 341 

(2005). 
10

 Ric Simmons, Re-Examining the Grand Jury: Is There Room for Democracy in the Criminal Justice System?, 82 

B.U. L.Rev 1, 45 (2002). 

15



 
 

             OCMC                                                                                                         Ohio Const. Art. I, §10 

4 

 
 

banning hearsay testimony, allowing a suspect to testify in front of the grand jury, and providing 

judicial review of indictments, thus giving courts the power to reverse convictions if the 

indictment process was faulty.  One commentator describes the New York process as relying on 

courts’ willingness to be aggressive in protecting defendants’ due process rights in the face of 

legislative silence on the matter. 
11

 

 

Though these standards may appear tough, New York courts recognize that “[a] Grand Jury 

proceeding is not a ‘mini trial’ but a proceeding convened primarily to investigate crimes and 

determine whether sufficient evidence exists to accuse a citizen of a crime and subject him or her 

to a criminal prosecution.” People v. Lancaster, 69 N.Y.2d 20, 30, 503 N.E.2d 990 (1986) 

[internal citations and quotation marks removed].  Nevertheless, in the New York grand jury, as 

in other states, there is not the back and forth of a trial, nor a requirement to call every possible 

witness. See People v. Thompson, 22 N.Y.3d 687, 8 N.E.3d 803 (2014). 

 

Police Action and the Grand Jury 

 

California currently has pending a bill requiring the Attorney General to appoint a special 

prosecutor to investigate all use of deadly force by police officers, giving the sole discretion to 

the prosecutor to file charges.
12

  The bill, AB-86 as introduced by Democrat Assemblymember 

Kevin McCarty, is currently held under submission in committee. 

 

In Ohio, however, the accused has a constitutional right to a grand jury.  State v. Sellards, 17 

Ohio St.3d 169, 478 N.E.2d 781 (1985).  Unless the accused waives his right to a grand jury, he 

is entitled to have the charges be brought forth in front of one. Ex parte Stephens, 171 Ohio St. 

323, 170 N.E.2d 735 (1960).   

 

New York Judge Aaron Short offers a different solution.  He suggests that a judge should 

oversee a grand jury that is hearing a case against police officers and have the transcripts of those 

hearings to be open to the public.  However, this proposal has not been adopted by the 

legislature.
13

   

                                                           
11

 Bennett L. Gershman, Supervisory Power of the New York Courts, 14 Pace L.Rev. 41, 92 (1994). 
12

 Melanie Mason, “Tired of prayer vigils’: California debates 20 bills aimed at police force,” Los Angeles Times 

(May 3, 2015),  http://www.latimes.com/local/politics/la-me-pol-police-force-legislature-20150504-story.html (last 

visited Jan. 27, 2016).  Text of bill available at:  

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB86 (last visited Jan. 27, 2016). 
13

 Aaron Short, “NY chief judge proposes sweeping grand jury reforms.” New York Post, (Feb. 17, 2015), available 

at  http://nypost.com/2015/02/17/ny-chief-judge-proposes-sweeping-grand-jury-reforms/ (last visited Jan. 27, 2016). 

16

http://www.latimes.com/local/politics/la-me-pol-police-force-legislature-20150504-story.html
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201520160AB86
http://nypost.com/2015/02/17/ny-chief-judge-proposes-sweeping-grand-jury-reforms/


Recommendations

19

Grand jury process: The grand jury process shall be reviewed by the Supreme Court of Ohio, the 
Ohio Constitutional Modernization Commission, or appropriate governmental authority, as it ap-
plies to the use of force.

Public and expert testimony recommendations

Speakers at the public forums expressed concerns about the grand jury process. To many, the grand 
jury process is perceived as unfair on several levels. Officers and prosecutors work together, and thus, 
investigations of officer misconduct by the prosecutor are seen as biased. Grand juries are closed to the 
public, and for this reason are perceived as secretive. One public speaker suggested educating the com-
munity on the grand jury process, and others discussed the need to make the details of the grand jury 
proceedings available to the public at their conclusion. Another member of the public recommended 
disallowing officers to waive their right to a full jury in an officer-involved death. In addition to holding 
law enforcement officers accountable for their behaviors, some suggested that there needs to be more 
prosecutorial accountability, and that perhaps there should exist an oversight committee for prosecu-
tors, similar to that which has been recommended for law enforcement. 

Task Force recommendations

While the focus of the Task Force was specific to community-police relations, it became evident during 
the public forums that further analysis of the judicial process, and in particular the grand jury process, 
is necessary. With this in mind, the Task Force developed their recommendations. Several recommenda-
tions were offered by individual members. One Task Force member recommended amending Rule 6 of 
the Rules of Criminal Procedure to permit the Presiding or Administrative Judge of the court of common 
pleas upon request of the prosecutor to be present and preside over grand jury proceedings when it 
is in the interest of justice, with the judge bound by secrecy as well, unless the court orders otherwise. 
Another Task Force member recommended abolishing the grand jury and replacing it with a prelimi-
nary hearing, which is a transparent and open process. A Task Force member suggested judicial budgets 
should be removed from local governance to elevate judges away from local influences. Another mem-
ber encouraged diversity in the composition of grand juries, as well as educating the grand jury about 
its right to ask for more information and witnesses.

Multiple Task Force members recommended the following:

• Judicial oversight of the grand jury process.

• Creating an open and transparent grand jury process by authorizing the release of the grand 
jury testimony when, in the interest of justice, there is a particularized need, and the safety of 
witnesses would not be impacted.

• Requiring a grand jury to review all officer-involved deaths or serious injuries, in the absence of 
an independent investigation.

17



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

18



 

1 
 

 

Judicial Branch and Administration of Justice Committee 
 

Planning Worksheet 

 (Through January 2016 Meetings) 
 

Article I – Bill of Rights (Select Provisions) 

 

Sec. 5 – Trial by jury (1851, am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 8 – Writ of habeas corpus (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 9 – Bail (1851, am. 1997) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec.10 – Trial for crimes; witness (1851; am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 
 
 
 

19



 

2 
 

 

Sec. 10a – Rights of victims of crime (1994) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 12 – Transportation, etc. for crime (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 14 – Search warrants and general warrants (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 15 – No imprisonment for debt (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 16 – Redress for injury; due process (1851; am. 1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 
 
 
 
 

20



 

3 
 

 

Sec. 19a – Damages for wrongful death (1912) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Article IV - Judicial 

 

Sec. 1 – Judicial power vested in court (1851, am. 1883, 1912, 1968, 1973)  

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 2 – Organization and jurisdiction of Supreme Court (1851, am. 1883, 1912, 1944, 1968, 1994) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 3 – Organization and jurisdiction of court of appeals (1968, am. 1994)  

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 4 – Organization and jurisdiction of common pleas court (1968, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 
 

21



 

4 
 

 

Sec. 5 – Powers and duties of Supreme Court; rules (1968, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 6 – Election of judges; compensation (1968, am. 1973) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 13 – Vacancy in office of judge, how filled (1851, am. 1942) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 15 – Changing number of judges; establishing other courts (1851, am. 1912)) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

 

Sec. 17 – Judges removable (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 
 
 

22



 

5 
 

 

Sec. 18 – Powers and jurisdiction of judges (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. 19 – Courts of conciliation (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 11.13.14 1.15.15 1.15.15 2.12.15 2.12.15 4.9.15 4.9.15 

 

Sec. 20 – Style of process, prosecution, and indictment (1851) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

Sec. [21] 22 – Supreme Court commission (1875) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

Completed 11.13.14 1.15.15 1.15.15 2.12.15 2.12.15 4.9.15 4.9.15 

 

Sec. 23 – Judges in less populous counties; service on more than one court 1965) 

Draft Status 
Committee  

1
st
 Pres. 

Committee 

2
nd

 Pres. 

Committee 

Approval 
CC Approval 

OCMC        

1
st
 Pres. 

OCMC       

2
nd

 Pres. 

OCMC 

Approved 

        

 

23



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

24



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 

25



 

 
 

OHIO CONSTITUTIONAL MODERNIZATION COMMISSION 
 

 

 

2016 Meeting Dates 
 

March 10 

April 14 

May 12 

June 9 

July 14 

August 11 

September 8 

October 13 

November 10 

December 8 

 


	JBAJ - Ohio Task Force on Community-Police Relations (Grand Jury Recommendation).pdf
	all individual recommendations
	Andrews, Sara
	Armstead, Brian
	Bell, Tannisha
	Cole, Philip E.
	Derickson, Tim
	Dunn, Ronnie
	Hite, Cliff
	Lynch, Damon
	Moreno, Bernie
	Murray, Amy
	Murry, George
	Navarre, Mike
	O'Brien, Ron
	Porter, Andre
	Reece, Alicia
	Roberts, Tom
	Stanforth, Vernon
	Stratton, Eve
	Williams, Sandra

	appendix
	A - Exec Order 2014-06K
	B - Summaries of Task Force Public Forums
	appC
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 1 of 3
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 2 of 3
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 3 of 3

	D and E.pdf
	D - Task Force Emails and Social Media
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 1 of 3
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 2 of 3
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 3 of 3


	tabs 1.pdf
	Letter from the Co-Chairs


	JBAJ - Ohio Task Force on Community-Police Relations (Grand Jury Recommendation).pdf
	all individual recommendations
	Andrews, Sara
	Armstead, Brian
	Bell, Tannisha
	Cole, Philip E.
	Derickson, Tim
	Dunn, Ronnie
	Hite, Cliff
	Lynch, Damon
	Moreno, Bernie
	Murray, Amy
	Murry, George
	Navarre, Mike
	O'Brien, Ron
	Porter, Andre
	Reece, Alicia
	Roberts, Tom
	Stanforth, Vernon
	Stratton, Eve
	Williams, Sandra

	appendix
	A - Exec Order 2014-06K
	B - Summaries of Task Force Public Forums
	appC
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 1 of 3
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 2 of 3
	C - Task Force Written Comments - Part 3 of 3

	D and E.pdf
	D - Task Force Emails and Social Media
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 1 of 3
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 2 of 3
	E - Supporting Doc. - Part 3 of 3


	tabs 1.pdf
	Letter from the Co-Chairs





